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 Building the Foun da tions of the 

Back house Nursery of York 

Gillian M. Parker

Summary:  This paper aims to fill the gap in knowl edge about the Back house nursery, in the absence of any

substan tial archival record, by tracing its early devel op ment, showing how it built on the foun da tions of two earlier,

region ally signif i cant nurs eries in York - Telfords and Riggs – and by exploring some thing of the plants it grew. The

story begins with the land inside York’s walls, moves to Fishergate and is taken up to 1854, the point at which

Back houses consol i dated all their activity on a site just outside York, in Holgate.

Intro duc tion 

The Back house nursery of York was estab lished in 1816

and by the end of the nine teenth century was one of the

most famous plant nurs eries in Britain, with an

international repu ta tion. It grew, hybrid ized and

supplied trees and plants, won prizes at national

horti cul tural shows, utilised plant-hunters in Europe and

the Americas, and devel oped a nursery that even tu ally

stretched to some hundred acres in Holgate, near York.

This site included a massive rock garden that astounded

those who visited it. The nursery also laid out gardens

across England, Scotland and Wales, trained young

gardeners who devel oped signif i cant careers of their

own, and employed gardeners who were acknowl edged

national experts in their respec tive fields. By the early

1920s, however, the nursery was in finan cial diffi cul ties

and parts were auctioned off. It was purchased by James

Hamilton in 1922, thus ending the Back house family’s

asso ci a tion with it, though their name persisted in the

successor nursery until its eventual closure in 1955.

Despite its national and inter na tional impor tance,

no history of the nursery as a business has been

published, perhaps due to the absence of an archive. 

This is in contrast to some other signif i cant nurs eries

where archival holdings have allowed histo ries to be

told.1 Digit is ation of news pa pers and horti cul tural publi -

ca tions now opens up new space in which to explore

nurs er ies’ contri bu tion to the expan sion of gardening to

the ‘mid dling sorts’ in the nine teenth century.2 

The Telfords and the Monastic Origins 

of the Nursery

It is well known that in 1816, brothers Thomas

(1792-1845) and James (1794-1869) Back house took

over the going concern of the Telfords Nursery in York, 

as signalled by an adver tise ment of 18 May 1816

(Figure 1).3
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Figure 1: Announcement of Transfer of Ownership of

the Nursery from Telfords to Backhouses. York

Herald, 18 May 1816 (British Library Newspapers)



Just what the ‘grounds’ were that the Back houses had

‘entered upon’ in 1816 remains opaque. Harvey

published a short history of the Telford nursery in 1969, 

but argued that despite his detailed work several

Telford sites probably remained uniden ti fied.

Back houses certainly took on the Telfords’ site in

Tanner Row within York’s walls, known as Friars’

Gardens. This collo quial name signalled the site’s

pre-Disso lu tion history:  in 1736 Francis Drake referred 

to Lady Hewley’s ‘hos pi tal’ and ‘Fryars-gardens’ as

lying on land ‘in which did anciently stand the

monas tery of the Fryars preachers of York’ (original

italics). This Domin ican priory was of royal

foun da tion, from a series of charters granted, between

1228 and 1464.4  

The Domin ican order of mendi cant preachers

(‘Blackfriars’) orig i nated in the early thir teenth century 

in Toulouse, France, but estab lished itself rapidly in

England with Henry III’s patronage. The York house

was only the fourth estab lished in England, the first to

be founded by Henry III, and was the head of the ‘Vis i -

ta tion of York’ in the north for houses founded

subse quently. Henry gifted the existing Royal chapel of 

St Mary Magdalen to the Order; the plot behind it, in

part of York described as ‘almost deserted’, was given

by the Lord Mayor after a royal enquiry about a suitable 

site.5  Small addi tional areas of land were granted

subse quently.6 

Royal patronage and ‘alms’ seem to have ended

with Richard II and priory income then came mostly

from testa men tary bequests.7  Although the Historic

Envi ron ment Record claims that ‘[n]othing is known of 

the conventual build ings’ beyond there being two

gatehouses, the bequests and accounts of dona tions

confirm the site had a bell-tower, an infir mary and a

draw well and that the signif i cant Percy family

endowed a chapel within its church.8  Disso lu tion

records iden ti fied a cloister, brewery, buttery, granary,

and ‘cham bers’, in addition to the church. The site

within the city walls was rela tively small, however - an

acre by most esti mates.9

No monas tery had a happy Disso lu tion, but that of

the Blackfriars at York was probably made worse by the 

involve ment in 1536 of their Prior, John Pickering, in

the Pilgrimage of Grace. On 27 November 1538, a year

after Pickering’s execu tion at Tyburn, the priory was

‘given up to the king’, via three of the four northern

Royal Commis sioners for the suppres sion of monas -

teries - Sir George Lawson, Richard Bellasis, William

Blitheman and James Rokeby. Every thing was sold off,

including the lead from the roofs, the bells and all the

plate, with the ‘silver hand’, probably a reli quary of St

Mary Magda lene.10

William Blitheman subse quently rented the house

and land of the priory and then in 1540 bought from the

Crown:

‘The Blak Freres callyd the Tofts whin the Citie of

York … the Scite of the late howse ther, with

Garthins and Ortyerd adionyng the same, late in

the hands of the Freres ther, conteyning by estimac’ 

one acre, and is worth by the yere to be let to

Ferme, xxs’11 (the modern equiv a lent of £17,900 in

annual rent).

Blitheman also bought Monk Bretton priory, near

Barnsley, and a part of Foun tains Abbey, paying

£892.3s 4d (the equiv a lent of £16 million in 2021) in

total for the three sites. 12

Blitheman was an influ en tial and powerful member 

of the new church and finan cial bureau cra cies and a

trusted enforcer for Thomas Cromwell. He played a

signif i cant role in moni toring and damping down the

Pilgrimage of Grace, and dissolved Bridlington Priory

(another Domin ican house) and Jervaulx Abbey

‘imme di ately’ after surveying them in 1538 ‘in part as
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Figure 2: Sarah Woolryce (Lady Sarah Hewley)

1627-1710 (Public Domain, via Wikimedia Commons)



punish ment for the wide spread support shown in the

recent upris ings in their neigh bour hoods’.13 It seems

unlikely that he ever lived on the York site.  Rather, as

Wilmott and Bryson argue about Monk Bretton, the

high-rent land must have seemed ‘an enticing invest -

ment’, in an impor tant city where space was always at a

premium, hemmed in as it was by walls. 14

The land passed through various hands after Jasper

Blitheman, William’s grandson, granted it to Lawrence

Green of York, even tu ally being sold in 1699 for £520

(£1.48 million) to Lady Sarah Hewley, in whose hands,

through her subse quent char i table trust, it remained

until 1839. The deeds of the sale to Lady Hewley mention 

the ‘garden with the fruit trees therein’ was ‘in the tenure

or occu pa tion of George Telford, gardi ner’. Land

adjoining ‘the said garden with stable and dove-cote’ was

also in the ‘pos ses sion’ of George Telford.15 

Lady Hewley (1627-1710) was a wealthy local

dissenter who soon after buying the land financed the

building of a ‘hos pi tal’ or alms houses on Tanner Row

for the widows of dissenting minis ters (Figure 2).  She

estab lished a Trust, funded from income from her

estates, that still exists as a charity.16 In 1839, the land,

which included the nursery grounds, was compul so rily

purchased for George Hudson’s York and North

Midland Railway. The Trust built new alms houses in St

Saviourgate York, close to the Unitarian chapel that

Lady Hewley and her husband had helped to fund.

All the above tells us who owned the land taken by

the Crown in 1538, but nothing about what it was being

used for. The earliest York map, John Speed’s of 1611,

shows the priory site unnamed and appar ently empty,

with a row of housing or tofts along its edge. Speed’s

plan contains no detail of occu pa tion or use, so it is diffi -

cult to be sure what the darker green colouration on the

map means, if anything.17 However, the map does show

a building and dividing wall on the site (Figure 3). 

The memory of the Blackfriars’ occu pa tion of the

site continued, as Benedict Hors ley’s ‘Ichnography’ of

1694 shows (Figure 4). Horsley was a ‘painter and

stainer’, a York Freeman and the son of Edward

Horsley, also a painter and stainer. As a member of an

artistic family that had lived in the city at least from the

early years of the seven teenth century, Benedict would

have had an accurate idea of York’s topog raphy.18  The

grey areas on his plan repre sent build ings, so by this

stage most of the tofts had disap peared, and there was a

clear boundary to ‘the Friers gardins’.
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Figure 3: John Speed’s 1611 Plan of York 

(courtesy of Occidental College Library, California. Detail created by author)



Francis Drake’s plan of 1736 seems much influ -

enced by Hors ley’s work of 42 years earlier (Figure 5).

The beds and planting shown here signify nursery

activity, and indeed Drake stated that the site of the

monas tery was

‘now a spacious garden; at present occupied by Mr

Tilford, a worthy citizen, and whose knowl edge in

the mystery of gardening renders him of credit to

his profes sion; being one of the first that brought

our northern gentry into the method of planting and 

raising all kinds of forest trees, for use and

orna ment’.19 

This ‘Mr Tilford’ is the first John Telford (1689-1771),

son of George Telford (1657-1704). However, Drake’s

map does not include anything resem bling the

alms house Lady Hewley had built in 1699/1700. Drake

adds that Tanner Row was named because of ‘the

people of that trade residing much in it, their tan-pits

being on the back of it’. These pits are probably the

small rect an gular features shown at the back of the tofts 

to the east of the priory site, on both his and Hors ley’s

plans.

George Telford (1657-1704) became a Freeman of

York in 1685, by redemp tion (ie he paid the Corpo ra -

tion to become a Freeman and to trade in York) but his

trade is not named.20 Two years earlier he had joined a

long-estab lished family of York bakers, by marrying

Ellinor Barehead (1655-1714). George i and Ellinor

had four sons; Robert (1684-1714), who became an

attorney in Leeds, George ii (1687-1711), John
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Figure 4: Benedict Horsley, ‘The Ichnography or Ground Plot of Ye City of Yorke’, pub. Peirce Tempest, 1697

(City of York Council/Explore Libraries and Archives Mutual, York. Detail created by author)

Figure 5: Francis Drake’s 1736 Plan of York. (York Explore. Creative Commons. Detail created by author)



(1689-1771) and Charles (1695 ?) who was a cloth

worker.  George ii was admitted Freeman in 1703 by

patri mony, as son of George Telford ‘gar di ner’, but his

early death meant that it was John who carried on the

Telford business.21

A new lease signed in 1719 makes clear that the

Friars’ Gardens were walled, well estab lished with fruit

and other trees, and ran up to the city walls.22 It also

shows that John was living in a house on the site and

that, as when sold in 1699, there were also a barn,

stables and a dovecote. When Roque published

Chassereau’s plan of the city in 1750, Lady Hewley’s

Hospital appeared at the front of the site, surrounded by

nursery beds and planting (Figure 6). The rect an gular

pond was now surrounded by trees, which may suggest

an attempt to disguise the tanning activity or that it had

stopped, as the small pits evident in the earlier plans

have disap peared.

Knowl edge about the Telfords’ oper a tions starts to

emerge about 30 years after the nursery was estab -

lished. Harvey records that John Aislabie at Studley

Royal trans ferred his alle giance from the Perfects’

nursery at Pontefract to Telfords, on the basis of price,

around 1729.23 Telfords provided trees to Swillington

House in the West Riding in the 1730s,24 and trees and

seeds on an annual basis to Scampston Hall, near

Malton, between 1758 and 1774.25  They also provided

large quan ti ties of seed to William Marwood at Busby

in the 1760s: Figure 7 shows the purchase of four or five 

different vari eties of peas and beans and exotic looking

broccoli but also tender fruit trees and a large pair of

garden ‘shears.’26

In 1778 John Grimston of Kilnwick Hall, near

Driffield, sent a copy of a French cata logue of fruit trees 

to the Telfords, appar ently wondering which might be

avail able from them. The reply shows both that the

Telfords were not fazed by deci phering the French and

that they held many of the listed fruits, albeit some times 

under different names.  They advised that many would

need to be grown against a hot wall to ensure success in

the East York shire climate. A few years later, in 1782

they provided unspec i fied plants to William Pontey, the 

gardener at Kilnwick Hall.27 

Other families and houses that Telfords are known

to have supplied with trees, plants and gardening equip -

ment include the Darleys of Aldby, Cholmeleys of

Brandsby and Howsham Hall in the 1760s.28 Some of

these sites are shown on Figure 8, although from a later

map which shows clearly that the tree planters had been

at work. There are undoubt edly many more connec -

tions awaiting discovery in the account books of large

York shire estates.

Most signif i cant of the Telfords’ rela tion ships,

perhaps, was that with Harewood. Letters between the

Telfords and the estate steward show that they provided
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Figure 6: Chassereau’s 1750 Plan of York Showing the ‘Friers Gardens’ and Lady Hewley’s Hospital. 

(City of York Council/Explore Libraries and Archives Mutual, York. Detail created by author)
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Figure 7: William Marwood’s Account Books 1776-1779. 

(North Yorkshire County Record Office, ZDU 169/1-3. Detail created by author)

Figure 8: H. Teesdale & Co, & C. Stocking, Map of Yorkshire, 1828. 

(courtesy of National Library of Scotland. Detail created by author)



plan ta tion trees, quickwoods, roses, fruit trees, garden

tools and simply ‘wood’ during the creation of the

Lascelles estate between, at least, 1754 and 1762

(Figure 9). John Telford iii’s (1744-1830) rela tion ship

with Samuel Popplewell, the steward, ran to exchanging

personal gifts of plants and possibly produce.29

Business was not just with indi vidual estate owners. 

In 1740 the nursery provided and planted limes and

elms for the Corpo ra tion’s New Walk along the Ouse.

Figure 10 hints at how York saw itself at this time.  For

centu ries, the grand families of York shire had kept

second houses in York, and Georgian York had areas of

‘polite’ activity: the Assembly Rooms designed by

Richard, Lord Burlington (1730-2); the theatre (1744);

the coffee houses; and the race course that Telfords had

helped to level and drain (c 1730). Being a tenant of the

Lady Hewley Trust also brought business; in 1789

Telfords were paid for tree planting at West Ayton, one

of the Trust’s estates, and in 1792 they were asked for

their opinion on creating a fifty-foot plan ta tion along

two sides of a moor. They subse quently planted up two

and a half acres of trees.30

A highly deco ra tive one-page cata logue from the

Telfords (undated, but John and George in the title

shows it to be post-1770) focuses largely on seeds and

some flower roots, but this is a limited list of what was

on offer from the nursery (Figure 11). A more workaday 

cata logue of 1775 (Figures 12 and 13) shows how

exten sive the business now was but also that it was

domi nated by trees: eight of the 18 pages are dedi cated

to them. Trans planted one-foot beeches could be

provided by the thousand at £2.0s.0d (today £4,190.00,

£4.19p each).  By contrast, a single, striped-leaved

(presum ably varie gated), yellow-flow ering horse
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Figure 9: Letter from Telfords to Mr Popplewell, Harewood. 1757. 

(With kind permission, Harewood House Trust and West Yorkshire Archive Service)

Figure 10: Nathan Drake, The New Terrace Walk,

York, 1756, YORAG 584. 

(courtesy York Museums Trust, via Art UK) 

30 Roses
of sorts

1 Garden Spade

2 Middle Siz'd hoes

2 Shovells

Dwarf white kidney beans 2 qts

Small hand saw

York November 23, 1757

'By the order you left,

have herewith sent yr

Trees, & tools

abovementioned, all

which I hope will please.

The pruning knives you

took along with you, 

that there nothing 

remains but of seeds

which shall be sent as

soon as my new stock

arrives.'
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Figure 11: ‘A Catalogue of Seeds &c Sold by John and George Telford, Nurserymen and Seedsmen in Tanner

Row, York’, undated. (Darley of Aldby archive, North Yorkshire County Record Office, ZDA) 



chestnut would cost the aspiring gardener 5s.0d

(£667.00).31  Other sections in the cata logue are

devoted to fruit trees and bushes (one page), ever green

and flow ering shrubs, including roses, climbers, and

some herbs (eight pages).

The accounts of tree-planting and providing trees

for others to plant and the volume of trees on offer in the 

cata logue indicate the Friars’ Gardens were only a

small part of the Telfords’ oper a tions. To be able to

provide tree slips even to only one customer a year, on

the scale implied in the cata logue, clearly required

much land some where. Some of this was at Holgate: in

1837, when Thomas Back house was looking for a site

to replace Friars’ Gardens as the railway came near, he

said that at least some of the land being leased at

Holgate was so exhausted with years of tree growing

that it was suitable only for tilling.32

When he died in 1770, John Telford ii left an estate

at Wigginton (and his houses in Grape Lane) to his wife

and it seems possible that the Telfords had bought the

Wigginton estate because of the Hewley link.33 Harvey

raised the question of whether Wigginton might be one

of the other produc tion sites for the nursery; while this

is possible, by 1788 the estate was being rented out to

others, as the report of a fire in a barn makes clear.34 By

this stage, John ii’s sons, John iii and George ii

(1749-1834) had bought an estate at Eske in the East

Riding, close to Beverley and Hull.35 While Eske is

some distance from York by road, the estate is on the

River Hull, which feeds into the Humber, so boat traffic

to York would have been entirely possible.

Other land in York shire has been found asso ci ated

with the Telfords. In 1741 John Telford (either i or ii)

voted for George Fox in a Parlia men tary election; his

place of abode was given as York, but the enti tle ment to

vote came as a free holder at Kirk (Church) Fenton. 

Property dealings in Bierley, Baildon and Bingley, in

the West Riding, and the Manor of Lund in the East

Riding, bought from the Grimston estate at Kilnwick,

all indicate owner ship of signif i cant parcels of land.36

Although Telfords trans ferred their business to the

Back houses in 1816 they continued as lease holders of

nursery lands, both at Tanner Row (up to 1824) and at

Holgate (possibly up to 1845). John Telford iii seems to

have remained more involved than his brother George

ii, living on the site for some years; when the Hewley

Trustees leased the gardens to Back houses they

‘offered to let Mr John Telford live in the dwelling

house and have the attached garden there for life, if he

wished’.37 A York direc tory for 1830 confirms that he

did so wish, recording John Telford, ‘gent’ living at 28

Tanner Row.38

However, horti cul tural activity that stretched back

to the Disso lu tion, and very likely before, ceased in the

late 1830s, when the campaign in which Thomas Back -

house had been closely involved - to bring the railway,

with all its freight possi bil i ties, to York - was

successful.  The first York railway station was built on

‘the garden lately occupied by Messrs. T. and J. Back -

house’ (Figure 14).39 
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Figures 12 (left) and 13: Cata logue of John and George Telford, 1775.  

Front page and page with Beech and Chestnut prices.  (Eigh teenth Century Collec tions Online) 



The Riggs

Perhaps in response to the approach of the railway, in

1835/6 Back houses bought another well-estab lished

nursery – Riggs. This was south of York city centre, in

Fishergate, and had been estab lished by Thomas Rigg

(1747-1835). Harvey describes Riggs as one of three

nurs eries in York shire in the late eigh teenth and early

nine teenth centu ries (the others being Telfords and

Perfects of Pontefract) that had ‘an impor tance out of

all propor tion to their economic stand ing’. In the Riggs’ 

case, he states, this was mainly for its ‘national fame as

the source of the best seed of Early York Cabbage’.40

It has not been possible to estab lish Thomas Rigg’s

place of birth, but his death record suggests that he was

born in 1747. He was a gardener of Bilton, about eight

miles to the west of York, when he married Eliz a beth

Hopps on 3 May 1773, and when his son, Thomas ii

(1774-1811), was baptised. (Figure 15).41 Bilton is the

location of Bilton Hall, a grade II listed building of

Tudor/Jacobean origins. The property of the Stock dale

family from the mid-seven teenth century, after finan -

cial problems related to the South Sea Bubble, it was

sold and even tu ally acquired in 1742 by a John Watson

of Malton.42 Given the small size of the village it seems

possible that Thomas i was a gardener at the Hall,

although where he obtained the resources to start up a

nursery in York remains unknown.

Thomas i was admitted Freeman of the City of York 

(by order of the Lord Mayor, not by patri mony) in

1777,43 which suggests it was at this point that he

started the business in York, and he imme di ately took

on an appren tice, Edward Brogdin.44 Later, the

Freeman records note that Thomas ii was appren ticed to 

his father on 21 December 1784 (so aged only 10/11

years), by inden ture. Thomas ii was admitted as a

Freeman in 1803, aged 29, but died in 1811 at only 37 of 

‘pal pi ta tion of the heart’.45  Thomas i’s younger son

John (1777-1833) also joined the nursery business.

Harvey says that Thomas Rigg i (1747-1835) estab -

lished the nursery first as a ‘sub urban garden in the old

precinct of St Andrew’s Priory by Fishergate’, and that

it then grew to some 30 acres.46 It has been diffi cult to

confirm this, and there is no sign of horti cul tural

activity on the site that became Riggs’ nursery on the

seven teenth century maps above. However, both

Chassereau in 1750 and Jeffery in 1751 show a nursery
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Figure 15: Baptismal Record, Thomas, son of Thomas 

Rigg of Bilton, Gardener, February 1774. 

(Source: Findmypast, see Note 41. 

Detail created by author) 

Figure 14: Former site of Backhouse Nursery in Tanner Row. Survey 1849 - 1851 by Captain Tucker R.E. for

the Ordnance Map Office. (York Council Archaeology|Mapbox|OS OpenData. Detail created by author)



or market garden off Fishergate, some 25 years before

Thomas became a Freeman (Figures 16 and 17)  which

perhaps suggests that he took over an existing nursery

or market garden.

There is less archival and news paper evidence

against which to judge the signif i cance of the Riggs, but 

suffi cient to give a sense of the nurs ery’s oper a tions.

Early nine teenth century adver tise ments show that they 

were doing more than selling cabbage seeds – fruit and

forest trees, shrubs, green house plants, and bulbs are all 

mentioned. They acted as an employ ment agency for

gardeners, and the later advert shows how much they

charged for large orders of plan ta tion trees and quick

woods. As well as providing trees, they also offered to

plant them, on contract and with a guar antee for three

years. That Riggs were adver tising in Hull news pa pers

perhaps suggests seeking sales away from markets

where Telfords were active (Figures 18a, 18b).

The 1818 adver tise ment offered a range of three-

and four-year old ‘seed-bed’ as well as trans planted

quickwoods. An agree ment with ‘Mr Spofforth’,

steward for Admiral Southern at a yet uniden ti fied

estate some where near the Humber, shows that like the

Telfords, Riggs were able to provide large quan ti ties of

young trees for plan ta tions, and also shows the nature

of the contract (Figure 19). This and the adver tise ments

indicate that Riggs must have had substan tial slip nurs -

eries some where.47
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Figure 18a: Advertisement for Riggs Nursery, 

Hull Packet, 1 November 1814

 (British Library Newspapers)

Figure 16: Site later the Rigg nursery, 1751. ‘The

county of York survey’d in MDCCLXVII, VIII, IX and

MDCCLXX. Engraved by Thomas Jefferys’.

(Marwoods of Busby archive, North Yorkshire County 

Record Office. ZDU. Detail created by author)

Figure 17: Site later the Rigg nursery, by Chassereau, 

1750. (City of York Council/Explore Libraries and

Archives Mutual, York. Detail created by author)



Between 1791 and 1796, Riggs also bought from at

least one other nursery (Caldwells of Knutsford),

predominantly soft fruit and fruit trees, although

whether to establish their own stocks or to fulfil orders

is not known.48 Only one Riggs catalogue has been

discovered so far, from a late stage in their history,

1830, at Figure 20.

Newspaper reports show that Riggs exhibited

plants early in the history of the Yorkshire flower

shows, often competing directly with Backhouses. For

example, in June 1828 Thomas Houldsworth of Riggs

shared first prize for the Hardy Bouquet class with

Backhouses, because the Council felt they were of

equal merit.49 In September 1828 Riggs came second to

Henry Baines of Backhouses;50 while in October 1829

they came first in the same class.51 However, they seem

to be in a different league from Backhouses, from this

comment on the June 1830 show of the York Horticul-

tural Society:

‘At the end of the … table was also displayed a

superb hardy bouquet from the gardens of Mr Rigg,

and which though but a little David, when
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Figure 19: Letter from Riggs to Mr Spofforth 1829, Regarding Contract for Tree Planting.

(Sotherton-Escourt Family Estate Records, East Riding Archives, ERAL: DDSE 2//32/6)

Figure 18b: Advertisement for Riggs Nursery,

Hull Packet 17 November 1818

(British Library Newspapers)

October 22, 1829

To be planted with good trees sizes

as below at

Five Pounds per Acre.

The Plantation to be filled up at the

expiration of the second and third

year, with Trees sorts and sizes

below all that are dead.

Those destroyed by Hares Rabbits or

Cattle we don't replace.

Terms of payment. Three fourths of

the money soon as the Plantation is

planted the remainder at the

expiration of the

Third year when

the Plantation is

finished.

300 Oaks ½ foot high

300 Spruce Do. .. Do.

2000 Larch Do. .. Do.

For theAcre



compared with the Goliath-like colossal pile of

flowers, furnished by the gardener to Messrs.

Back house … yet from the excel lence of the flowers

and their tasteful arrange ment, it divided the

honours of the day with its stupen dous and

magnif i cent compeer’.52 

That Herald also lists the green house plants shown by

Riggs, nowhere near the number shown by Back houses. 

This compe ti tion was only two months before a

tragedy.  In 1810 John Rigg married Ann Gorwood of

the parish of St Michael Spurriergate, and between

1811 and 1830 Ann bore 14 children. Of these, six died

in infancy or early child hood. On 23 August 1830,

seven of their eight surviving children went rowing on

the river Ouse at around 3pm, with a friend, Grace

Robinson from Ayton, near Scarborough, and Thomas

Sellers, the son of Mr Sellers of the Falcon Inn, York.

About an hour after setting out, when they had reached

just above Acomb Landing, they met a keel in full sail

moving downriver which hit and over turned the rowing 

boat. All the young people were thrown into the river

and only Jessie Rigg and Thomas Sellers survived.53 A

subse quent inquest ruled that the keel, whose crew were 

reported coin ci den tally  to have ‘taken many cargoes of

goods for the Messrs Rigg into the West of York shire’,54

had been ‘inad e quately manned and improp erly

managed’ and a deodand of £21 was imposed on the

vessel.55

The impact of the drowning of six children from the 

same family was felt deeply all over York and beyond.

Charles Lamb is said to have written ‘some lines of

verse about the inci dent’ and York churches of all

denom i na tions marked the tragedy with special

sermons and services.56 Some 14,000 to 15,000 people

lined the streets for the funeral, which was held at the

family’s parish church of St Lawrence. The coffins

were carried by:

‘Rigg’s men, all of whom (twenty in number)

attended the funeral and testi fied by their deep and

sincere sorrow, their regret for the loss of those

who had always been to them kind and atten tive

masters and friends’.57

This refer ence to ‘kind and atten tive masters’

under lines that sons Thomas Gorwood (1812-1830)

and John ii (1815-1830) were already active in running

the nursery.  They had returned only that week from an

eight-week business journey carried out because of

their grand fa ther’s ill health and had been due to start

on another the day after the accident.58

It is not surprising that the parents were reported as

pros trate with grief nor, perhaps, that John i died less than

three years later, if not from ‘pal pi ta tions of the heart’ like

his brother, Thomas ii, then surely from a broken heart. A

monument to the children was erected in St Lawrence’s

church yard in 1831, funded by public subscrip tion. Over

the years it fell into disre pair but was restored by York

Civic Trust in 2016 and re-dedi cated by Arch bishop

Sentamu in March 2017, thus bringing the Rigg family

into the memory of York again (Figure 21).59

Despite it all Mrs Rigg, supported by her elderly and

frail father-in-law, Thomas i, continued the nursery

business for some time after her husband’s death,

perhaps indi cating that she had played a role in running

the business before these events. By summer 1833,

Riggs were competing again at the York flower shows,

providing show bouquets and winning some prizes,

mostly for vege ta bles and dahlias, and continued to do

so into 1834.60
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Figure 20: Annotated Riggs Catalogue, 1830.

(STK/5/2, City of York Council/Explore Libraries and

Archives Mutual, York.



What the future of the Rigg nursery would have

been had the two young Rigg men not died, followed

soon after by their father, cannot be judged at this

remove. But Harvey’s assess ment of the nurs ery’s

signif i cance as being largely asso ci ated with a cabbage

perhaps under sells its impor tance. It clearly operated

across a range of horti cul tural areas, func tioning as an

employ ment agency for gardeners and planting estates

and gardens on a contrac tual basis.  Whether or not the

Rigg nursery began on a site orig i nally owned by St

Andrew’s priory, it became substan tial in size, with

addi tional purchases of land in the early years of the

nine teenth century.61 

When the business was put up for auction in 1833,

as well as the stock-in-trade and equip ment, there were

24 acres of freehold land between Heslington Road and

the York Barracks occupied as nursery ground, and

another six acres, three miles from York on the Selby

Road. In addition, there was a lease hold house with 15

acres of land, and outbuild ings, also being used as a

nursery.62  The first auction was appar ently not wholly

successful, as the business and the 24 acres of freehold

land were adver tised again in 1835, when Thomas

Back house bought the nursery as a going concern. 

York’s detailed Ordnance Office map  of 1852 gives an

idea of the size and scope of the Back house nursery off

Fishergate and only three years before they left it to

consol i date all their activity at Holgate (Figure 22).

Devel op ment of the Back house Nursery

Having described the two nursery busi nesses that they

bought to estab lish and develop their own company, the 

paper now turns to the lives of Thomas and James

Back house. As shown above, the Telford nursery was

impor tant in the northern horti cul tural scene and the

family had become affluent land-owners who

presum ably no longer wanted to continue in the trade. 

They ended their family’s asso ci a tion with the massive

changes in horti cul ture seen since the seven teenth

century. How did Thomas and James, who were just 23

and 21 years old in 1815, come to take on such a

signif i cant business?

More is known of James Back house’s life. mainly

because of his sister Sarah’s memoir, which drew on his

own writings. He attended boarding school in Leeds

and after leaving became an assis tant to two Quakers

who were in the grocery, drug and chemical business in

Darlington, his home town. However, a lung complaint

was made worse by working indoors so James looked

for an outdoor occu pa tion. He worked with his uncle,

Jonathan Back house, pruning larches on his plan ta tion

and found that the work improved his health.63
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Figure 22:  Backhouse’s Nursery, Fishergate. Survey

1849 - 1851 by Captain Tucker R.E. for the Ordnance 

Map Office. (York Council Archaeology|Mapbox|OS

OpenData. Detail created by author)

Figure 21: Rigg Family Monument, St Lawrence’s

Church, York. 1831, restored 2016 (Author)



During his teenage years James became a keen

botanist, encour aged by and botanising with members

of his family and others, and corre sponding with both

Nathaniel Winch (1768-1838), the north-eastern

botanist, and with James Edward Smith (1759-1828),

the founder of the Linnean Society. Corre spon dence

with Winch shows inter esting aspects of James’s

person ality. In 1812, he wrote to Winch about whether

the pyrola he had found and ‘Fig ured’ was a new

species – his ‘Uncle Robson and Cousin W Back house’

thought it was (Figure 23). Winch was not convinced

and the debate between them continued for some time,

becoming almost an idee fixe for James and into which

he drew Smith a year later.64

Sarah’s memoir narrates that, as his health

improved while working outside, and with his growing

interest in botany, James looked around for a suitable

occu pa tion and found an oppor tu nity for learning about

the nursery business in Norwich. The letters to Winch

before the move to Norwich and during the first year

James spent there possibly throw a different light on

this choice. The depressed tone of the letters before

James moved suggests a decision perhaps forced on

him – he complains that the move will stop him

botanising, there is no point contin uing to collect spec i -

mens for his own herbarium, his ill health has stopped

his botanising and so on. Once in Norwich, he reports

that the work is so time-consuming there is little oppor -

tu nity for other than casual botanising.

Davis says that James was trained at the Wagstaffe

nursery in Norwich, but recent research on eigh teenth

and nine teenth century Norwich nurs eries has found

none of that name.65 Recently iden ti fied evidence from

his son (James ii, 1825-1890) shows that James trained

at the Mackies nursery, which was the largest in

Norwich at the time and had Quaker asso ci a tions.  He

continued his links with the nursery, later sending euca -

lyptus seeds from Tasmania to Fred erick Mackie.66

Unlike other gardeners, who would typi cally serve

seven-year appren tice ships and then years as jour -

neymen, James trained for only two years. Perhaps this

was a ‘gen tle man’s appren tice ship’, seen in other

accounts of early nurs eries.67 He returned to Darlington

in summer 1815, intending to start a nursery business

there, but soon learned that the Telfords were selling up. 

No news paper adver tise ment for this sale has been

found to date, but perhaps Quaker networks alerted

James or another member of the family.  James refers to

consulting a relative who influ enced the decision, and

this may have been his cousin Jonathan, who was one of 

James’s father’s exec u tors, and who accom pa nied him

to York to make the purchase. Jonathan and his father

were great tree planters, so it is possible that they had

had dealings with Telfords.68 Feeling that he would be

unable to manage the business on his own, James asked

Thomas to join him and they took posses sion in 1816. 

Both would rely on the expe ri enced nursery gardeners

they took on when they bought the firm and, as John

Telford iii stayed in his house on the Friars’ Gardens

site after the sale of the nursery, he also may have

advised the young Back house men in their early years

of business.

James moved to York in November 1815, and

Thomas soon after, living first in lodgings, then from

1817 at what is now 92 Micklegate, York. Their

widowed mother and ‘the rest of the family’ moved to

live with them (Figure 24). However, only nine years

after taking the nursery on, James became a minister of

the York Monthly Quaker Meeting and was often away

from York on reli gious work. He had married Deborah

Lowe (1793-1827) in 1822 and they had three children

– Eliz a beth (1823-1883), James ii, and Mary, who died

at five weeks old, a few months before Deborah herself

died. Even before Deborah’s death, James was often
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Figure 23: James Backhouse, Pyrola. Watercolour

in letter to N J Winch. 23 January 1812. 

(courtesy of the Linnean Society, Winch

Correspondence, v. 3, 1812-1817)



away on reli gious work and soon after she died he

embarked on a long series of visits to other Meetings in

East Anglia and the Midlands. Towards the end of

1830, he became preoc cu pied with extending his reli -

gious and human i tarian work to Australia (an idea that

had first come to him while standing in the Norwich

nursery).  He said that Thomas and ‘all [his] dear rela -

tives’ supported him in his objec tive, notwith standing

the long absence and the respon si bility for James’s

children that they would have to take on.69

A modern eyebrow might be raised at a father

leaving his young children so soon after their mother’s

death and for almost ten years (between 1831 and

1841); James was honest enough to acknowl edge that

he would not have recog nised his children on his

return.70 A modern observer might also wonder whether 

James’s travels in Britain and on the other side of the

world were his way of dealing with grief or even the

wrong choice of profes sion. Perhaps the support of his

‘dear rela tives’ was a quiet acknowl edge ment that he

was not coping and needed to do some thing different.

Further, Sarah’s memoir records that even after his

return from the ten-year journey, first to Australia and

then South Africa, James was ‘seldom long together

without feeling his mind drawn in Gospel love toward

some part of Great Britain’.71 James himself reported

that after his son, James ii, took over the running of the

nursery business, he ‘readily made way for my absence

from time to time on Gospel errands’, as had Thomas.

At this point, James ii was only 19 or 20 years old.72

We know very little about Thomas’s early life; the

National Dictio nary of Biog raphy gives him only a

passing mention as James’s brother, rather than as a

signif i cant force in their nursery.73 But signif i cant he

must have been, given James i’s extended absences.

Thomas married Hannah Stickney (1796-1827) in

1826, but she died the following year, soon after giving

birth to Mary who survived (1827-1867) and only two

weeks after James’s wife Deborah. Thomas remar ried

in 1837 to Abigail Dent (1814-1841), and they had two

children, Sarah Jane (1838-1913) and Thomas ii

(1840-1889). Abigail died in 1841 and in the same year

Thomas largely withdrew from running the business.

This had as much to do with his own ill-health as

James’s return, as he died only four years later. One

wonders whether James would have returned to

England at all if Thomas had not been ill. But it would

be unfair to suggest that James had little to do with the

growth of the nursery.  Despite his absolute commit -

ment to his ‘Gospel errands’, he continued to botanise

and to send back new or useful plants for the nursery

(Figure 25) and he had at least one of his discov eries

named in his honour (Figure 26).
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Figure 24: Civic Trust plaque on Backhouse home, 92 

Micklegate, York. (courtesy of York Civic Trust) 

Figure 25: Acacia rotundifolia, sent by James

Backhouse to Kew. Curtis’s Botanical Magazine,

ser.2:16 (1842-3), tab. 4041.

 (courtesy of Biodiversity Heritage Library)



Both in Australia and South Africa, where he trav -

elled next, James wrote about the plants and trees he

saw.  He compiled an account of the plants of the Norfolk 

Islands, and sent plants to Kew and Edin burgh Botanic

Gardens and corre sponded with indi vid uals, who

included Alex ander McLeay, Colonial Secre tary of New

South Wales - a keen plantsman.74 Several of the illus -

tra tions in James’s account of his visit to Australia,

which is other wise predom i nantly about his missionary

work, are of plants that stim u lated his interest. He

seemed partic u larly inter ested in the girth of ancient

forest growth, partic u larly that of eucalypts, perhaps

with a view to their commer cial value (Figure 27). 

However, it is clear from contem po rary press

accounts that most people thought that the nursery was

Thomas’s (Figures 28 and 29). James i’s own testi mony

shows that his brother was the business mind behind the 

enter prise and he reported that after his long absence

abroad, Thomas had looked after his (James’s) affairs

so well that he was better off finan cially than when he

had left.75 Further, in 1835/6, when Back houses bought

the Riggs nursery, James was far away, so Thomas must 

have been the moving force behind this. Thomas also

had other business activ i ties that, both imme di ately and 

in the longer term, supported the nursery business.

First, he was committed to improving trans port in the 

north, presum ably with an eye to his business. Not long

after buying the Telford nursery he was involved in

creation of the railways: he subscribed in 1818 to the

devel op ment of the Stockton to Darlington railway and

campaigned in person, first for the York and North

Midland Railway and later for the Great North of

England Railway, the major engi neering project needed

to link London and Edin burgh, via York and Newcastle.

His commit ment was not just of time; in 1845 he was

reported as having invested almost £81,000 (£103m) in

railway ‘sub scrip tions’.76 

Secondly, he helped to estab lish secure finan cial

under pin nings for business in York more gener ally. In

1830, he became a member of the first committee of the

York City and County Banking Company and was also

a founding member of a mutual insur ance company.77

Thirdly, Thomas was a partner in the York Flint

Glass Company, which had its factory close to the Riggs

site in Fishergate. For a man whose business success

depended on glass houses this was surely a wise move.78

Finally, there was the Back house involve ment in

tanning. Garden history often refers to the use of

tanner’s bark to heat glass houses or ‘bark stoves’.79

Having a tannery next door to a nursery, as the Telfords

did at least until the mid-eigh teenth century, made

perfect sense and the Back houses seem to have

continued the asso ci a tion. On the same day in 1833 that

the York Herald adver tised the sale of the Riggs nursery 

it also adver tised the sale of furni ture and goods from

Plan ta tion House, ‘adjoining Tan Yard … late in the

occu pa tion of Mr. Back house’. All enqui ries were

directed to Thomas Back house or to the auctioneer.

Plan ta tion House is seen on the 1892 Ordnance

Office map of York, on the corner of what is now Green

Dykes Lane and Hull Road, still attached to a tannery

(Figure 30). The ‘Mr Back house’ mentioned was

Joseph Back house (1798 -1881), James’s and Thomas’s 

younger brother. A press notice of August 1831 had

announced the disso lu tion of a part ner ship between
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Figure 26: Brunonia australis, in Edward’s Botan ical 

Register, 22 (1836), plate 1833, 240248 (courtesy of

Biodiversity Heritage Library) 
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Figure 27: James Backhouse crawling along a Fallen Tree to see a Tree Fern, in his

‘Narrative of a Visit to the Australian Colonies, illustrated ..., 

(London: Hamilton, Adams & Co, 1843). (British Library, public domain, image enhanced by author)



‘Thomas Back house, James Back house and Joseph

Back house of York, tanners, so far as regards Joseph

Back house’, which is presum ably why Thomas was

then selling the house in 1833.80  It is not known why

Joseph gave up the tanning business or for how long the

Back houses continued in it; presum ably it lost its

useful ness once coal or steam heating of glass houses

became common.

Overall, then, we see a picture of Thomas as an

astute man, playing a game of business chess, moving

his own pieces and acquiring others to underpin and

further develop his key interest in the nursery. There is

little evidence about the oper a tion of the nursery in this

early period but it is clear Thomas was not just a finan -

cial eminence gris but was closely involved in its

running. Figure 31 shows him on 16 January 1835

enticing Sir Joseph Radcliffe of Rudding Park near

Wetherby with the autumn cata logue of trees and

shrubs, displaying his exper tise in appraising a land -

scape for devel op ment, recom mending someone who

could lay out the ground well and cheaply, and offering

to make contact with that person on Sir Joseph’s behalf. 

Thomas was also a social campaigner, involved in

debates about the condi tion of the working classes and

of previ ously enslaved people in British colonies. He

campaigned for regis tra tion of land and property

owner ship, and ethics in polit ical life, and provided his

exper tise to various medical char i ties in York.
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Figure 31: Thomas Backhouse writes in 1835 to Sir

Joseph Radcliffe, Rudding Park 

(Radcliffe of Rudding Park archive, West Yorkshire

Archive Service, WYL280/2/398)

Figure 30: Joseph Backhouse’s Plantation House,

Hull Road, York, map Yorkshire CLXXIV 11,

published 1892. (courtesy of National Library of

Scotland. Detail created by author)

Figures 28 and 29: Reports (above) of Craspedia glauca 

in The Horticultural Register, 5, 1836, (below) of

Wisteria by D. Beaton in The Gardener’s Magazine, new 

ser 5, 1839. (courtesy of Biodiversity Heritage Library)



Consol i da tion at Holgate

It is not clear whether Thomas realised that bringing the 

railway to York would signal the end of centu ries of

horti cul tural activity on the Friars’ Garden site. Some

commen tary implies that Back houses profited from the

sale of land for the railway but as above, they did not

own the land:  York Corpo ra tion owned the majority

and the Hewley Trust the remainder. Purchasing the

Riggs nursery as a going concern enabled Back houses

to transfer the customer-facing side of its business to

Fishergate, still rela tively close to the city centre.

However, they were there for fewer than 20 years

before consol i dating all their activity at Holgate in

1853. It is gener ally held that Back houses moved to the

nursery site in Holgate, ab initio, in or around 1853; for

example, Davis states that after Thomas’s death James i 

and James ii ‘jointly directed the growth of the nursery’

and super vised its move ‘to a 100 acre site at Holgate’

York, in 1853’.81 Re-assessing evidence from maps,

news paper reports and adver tise ments, and family

history reveals this tells only part of the story and again

underplays Thomas’s role. 

The first news paper account of ‘Messrs. Back house 

and Son, of Holdgate’ (the older spelling of Holgate) at

the York Horti cul tural Society show in August 1852,

and a report of an accident caused by a falling wall in a

building in Fishergate ‘lately occupied by Messrs.

Back house’ in June 1854, between them, indicate the

point at which the oper a tions of the business ended at

Fishergate.  Back houses them selves signalled the

transfer with adver tise ments in December 1853.82

Never the less, press reports and adver tise ments

show Back houses were using sites in Holgate long

before 1853. In 1827, for example, copyhold land in

Holgate, then in the posses sion of Mr Waud (the miller)

was adver tised as ‘adjoining the Garden or Nursery of

Messrs. Back house’. In May 1843, a pump was stolen

from ‘the nursery of Messrs. Back house at Holdgate,

near this city’, and in November 1849 the Herald

reported fist i cuffs between two labourers employed by

‘Messrs. Back house, the florists at Acomb’ and some

passing labourers looking for work.83 These facts, and

others, show not only that Back houses had taken on

Telford land other than Friars’ Gardens when they

bought the nursery, but also that they ran that land as a

nursery, with atten dant gardeners, before the move

from Fishergate. Thomas Back house’s partic i pa tion

from 1838 in meetings of the Township of Holgate

(which he chaired) and his role as one of the surveyors

of ‘the Highway’ from 1839 to 1841 confirm a signif i -

cant presence in the area at an earlier date.84

The Manor of Acomb (other wise ‘Acomb and

Holgate’) was exchanged by King James I in 1622 for

York House or York Place in the parish of St Martin in

the Fields in London, then the property of the Arch -

bishop of York. A hundred and fifty years later, the then

Arch bishop assigned the Manor to Stephen Croft of

York and Giles Alcock of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, on the 

eleven-year lease allowed.85  The two largest tracts of

land that made up the Back house nursery on the 1852

Ordnance Office map had been allotted to the Dean and

Chapter at Enclo sure in 1746 and were leased by the

Telfords from at least 1795.86 

Church records confirm that Back houses gardened

on the Telford holdings in Holgate, years before the

final transfer of their business from Fishergate, possibly 

from the point when the business was sold to them.87  In

October 1845, Telfords finally trans ferred the lease

with the Dean of York Minster for just over 32 acres of

land in ‘Holgate’ to Back houses.88 As at Friars’

Gardens, then, it seems that Telfords sub-let to Back -

houses in the early years of their business. The rent for

the church land was £10 (£12,800) twice yearly, to be

paid ‘at Haxby’s tomb’ in York Minster, on the Feast of

the Annun ci a tion and on the Feast of St Michael the

Arch angel, for the benefit of the vicar of St Mary

Bishophill the Younger. One can only wonder what

committed members of the Society of Friends thought

of these condi tions.

As well as the church land, as early as 1763

Telfords leased land from York Corpo ra tion at Holgate,
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Figure 32: Backhouse Nursery, Holgate, mapped on

Yorkshire Sheet 174. Surveyed 1846-51, pub 1853.

(courtesy of National Library of Scotland. 

Detail created by author)



including six acres ‘along side the Beck at Holgate

Bridge, south of Holgate House’. 89  This lease was

renewed in 1783 and 1804, the latter to run until 1816

(the date at which Telfords sold the business to Back -

houses). Hodgson, the Holgate local histo rian, also

shows this land as rented by Back houses from the

Corpo ra tion along with two other, smaller, fields.90

James i lived in Holgate House for many years and

maps indicate nursery land marked to the south of this,

also.  In fact the 1852 Ordnance Office map, surveying

Acomb and Holgate between 1849 and 1851, shows

just how exten sive the Back house nursery was at its

publi ca tion, and confirms that there had been signif i -

cant devel op ment of the site long before the publi cised

move from Fishergate in 1853 (Figure 32).

Back houses’ Plants

The final part of the paper examines what is known

about the plants Back houses were growing and

showing during this first period of the nurs ery’s

devel op ment, up to the consol i da tion on the site at

Holgate, and what this indi cates about both the

nurs ery’s and York shire’s place in the world of early

nine teenth century horti cul ture 

Few Back house cata logues for this early period

have been found, but the one issued in the year that they

took over the nursery is crucial for under standing what

the brothers took on of Telfords’ stock-in-trade and how 

they then devel oped it. Indi vidual plant listings are

exten sive in some cases – there are over four pages of

roses, for example - but tiny in others. There are no

pelargoniums, a single chry san themum (grandiflorum)

and two dahlias (superflua, (now pinnata) and

frustranea (now coccinea). 

The next extant cata logue – for 1821 – shows devel -

op ment, with separate listings for aquatic plants and for

‘Camelias, Indian Chry san the mums, and Pelargoniums 

or  Gera niums requir ing the protec t ion of  a

Green-House’. Apple vari eties had increased in

number, while trees and shrubs, perennials, and annuals 

and bien nials had decreased. There is no mention of

obtaining plants from else where (as had been the case

in 1816) so the reduc tions may suggest a desire to sell

only what their nursery had grown. Further, having a

separate section for camel lias and so on signals an eye

to the market, as these plants grew in popu larity. 

Analysis of press reports of the plants that Back -

houses were exhib iting at flower shows makes it

possible to judge some thing of the nurs ery’s ability to

respond to and create horti cul tural fashion. They are

first sighted in 1825 winning a prize with their ‘exotic

bouquet’. In 1827, the plants in their bouquet had

crossed the globe, from the Alps to the Medi ter ra nean,

from China to Africa, South America and Australia:

Figure 33 and Table 1 show a selec tion of what was in

it. A year later, the nursery won prizes also for green -

house plants, hardy plants, and a hardy bouquet. The

first prize dahlias were in 1829, along side their first

pelargonium prize, for the variety ‘De Vere’. The first

‘orchideous plants’, as they were called, appear in

1842. Between 1825 and 1854 almost 1,600 different

plants were presented for the first time and won prizes.  

It is possible now to spec u late about what the show

plants tell us about the nurs ery’s and York shire’s contri -

bu tion to horti cul tural history. First, plants were often

shown soon after their first descrip tion in the botan ical

press, which means either that Back houses were

receiving spec i mens and growing them for the first time 

or that they were embedded in networks of nurs erymen
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Figure 33: Elements of Backhouses’ Exotic Bouquet

shown at 1827 York Horticultural Society Flower

Show (see Table 1 for list and sources)



who exchanged material between them selves. It seems

that both are true. In the dahlia listings, for example, the 

plant names often refer to other nurs eries or head

gardeners, giving a picture of vigorous horti cul tural

exchange, and an honest approach by Back houses to

naming that was not always the case else where. 

Secondly, from an early stage, Back houses exhib -

ited plants without neces sarily competing at the York

shows, more and more so as the century progressed.

This may be because they started to compete at national 

shows, but there is a sense of holding back from local

shows, perhaps reflecting an approach to marketing.

Nurs eries show new plants not just because they are

proud of them but also because they want customers to

buy them. There are repeated patterns in the accounts of 

the flower shows where Back houses show new plants

and win prizes for them for a year or so, followed not

long after by other York and York shire amateur

gardeners showing the same plants and winning prizes,

while Back houses have moved onto the next new

plants. 

Thirdly, the accounts of the flower shows allow

some thing to be seen of York shire’s place in national

horti cul ture, a topic that has not been adequately

explored so far in garden history. York shire had its first

public flower show in 1821, which chal lenges the idea

that the London Horti cul tural Society was first in the

field in 1827. The first York shire show had a small

67

Table 1: Elements iden ti fied among those in Backhouse’s prize-winning bouquet, 1827 

Name Source Reference Date

Anagallis fruticosa Curtis’s Botanical Magazine v.21-22, no. 831 1805

Calceolaria rugosa Curtis’s Botanical Magazine v. 52, no. 2523 1825

Camellia sasanqua Curtis’s Botanical Magazine v. 46, no. 2080 1819

Chorizema ilicifolium (nana) Curtis’s Botanical Magazine v. 25-6, no. 1031 1807

Correa speciosa Curtis’s Botanical Magazine v. 42, no. 1746 1815

Crowea saligna Curtis’s Botanical Magazine v. 25-6, no. 989 1807

Eucomis punctata Curtis’s Botanical Magazine v. 23-4, no. 913 1806

Gnidia simplex Curtis’s Botanical Magazine v. 21-2, no. 812 1805

Hypericum monogynum Botanical Magazine v. 9-10, no. 333 1796

Jasminum grandiflorum Edwards Botanical Register v. 2, no. 91 1816

Lechenaultea formosa Curtis’s Botanical Magazine v. 52, no. 2600 1825

Lavandula pinnata Botanical Magazine v. 11-12, no. 400 1797-8

Linaria tristis Curtis’s Botanical Magazine v. 96, no. 5827 1870 (sic)

Passiflora caerulea Botanical Register v. 6, no. 488 1820

Polygala mixta Curtis’s Botanical Magazine v. 41, no. 1714 1815

Primula sinensis Curtis’s Botanical Magazine v. 52, no. 2564 1825



number of classes, but the ‘select’ company, a cler -

gyman acting as chairman, and 150 gardeners and

amateurs in atten dance signal a signif i cant event.91 The

show soon became a three-city event, rotating between

Leeds, Wakefield and York, but in 1832 York broke

away and estab lished its own Society, with three to five

shows a year.

York shire clearly kept its eye on London. While

grateful for the silver medal provided by the London

Horti cul tural Society in 1828 to be at the annual

disposal of the York shire society, the chairman could

not help himself, a year later, from suggesting that the

York shire show could ‘scarcely be surpassed by even

London itself’.92 There was palpable schadenfreude the 

following year when the same chairman reported that

the London Society was in finan cial ‘ruin’ but that no

such fate was likely to befall the York shire Society

because it did not promise prizes ‘until the money was

in hand’.93

Fourthly, the accounts of the flower shows suggest

a need to revisit what we under stand about the history

of floristry. Even in the early part of the nine teenth

century Back houses’ gardeners were also accom plished 

florists in the modern sense, ie they arranged flowers.

For example, in 1827, Henry Baines, who went on to be

super in ten dent of the York shire Philo soph ical Society

gardens, was not only awarded first prize for Back -

houses’ hardy bouquet but the Society doubled the prize 

money because of ‘the extraor di nary beauty and

arrange ment of the flowers’, of which there were 500

different sorts.94 

Finally, despite the networks and friendly (one

assumes) rivalry between nurs eries, there was some -

times a worm in the bud. As at flower shows today,

visitors were reported some times to have taken away

‘some floral relic’ of the show, which the Back house

hardy bouquet ‘abun dantly supplied’.95 At the May

1834 meeting, however, the Chairman reported that ‘a

circum stance of an unpleasant nature had occurred’. A

slip of the ‘very scarce and valuable plant, the Manula

Smithia’ (not iden ti fied, but possibly a Manulea96) from 

Back houses’ hardy bouquet, had been taken away.  This 

theft happened before the show opened to the public, so

the finger of blame pointed at a fellow gardener ‘for the

purpose of raising plants’.97

Conclu sion

This paper has shown that horti cul tural activity was

embedded within York’s walls from the middle ages

and that there may have been more conti nuity of land

use in relation to market and nursery gardening than is

usually recog nised. Three eigh teenth and nine teenth

century nurs eries based in York fuelled much of the

great tree plan ta tion of the north, supported orna mental, 

fruit and vege table planting in the large estates of

York shire, and trained and employed gardeners, as well 

as acting as an employ ment agency for them. The paper

also shows that a nation ally and inter na tion ally famous

nursery actually devel oped on the foun da tions of two

other successful nurs eries in York, aided in large part

by the horti cul tural and business compe tence of

Thomas Back house,  who has,  to date,  been

over shad owed by his brother in public accounts of their 

nursery. Evidence from the York shire flower shows has 

shown that the Back house nursery was at the fore front

of plant intro duc tion to new audi ences in the early to

mid-nine teenth century and was embedded in

horti cul tural networks that supported this. York shire

was unarguably an impor tant centre of horti cul tural

produc tion and market devel op ment, a fact that has so

far been obscured by the domi nance of London and the

southern part of England in garden histor ical writing.
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